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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

BRANDON CHARLESTON
Petitioner,

V. : No. 2:16v-01437

ROBERT D. GILMORE Superintendent

at SCIGreene’

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE
OF PENNSYLVANIA;

THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY OF
PHILADELPHIA COUNTY,

Respondents.
OPINION
Report and Re@mmendation, ECF No. 21 -Adopted in part
Joseph F. Leesn, Jr. March 29, 2018

United States District Judge
l. Introduction

Brandon Charlestohas filed acounseledPetition for a wit of habeas corpus pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 2254He is tallenging hisAugust2009 conviction for murder in the first degree
and possession of an instrument of crifobpwing a trial by jury beforéhe Honorable George
W. Overtonin the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County. ECF NbBhd charges

arose from the June 15, 2008 shooting de&Wvilliam Stanton inside the residenloeated at

! As Magistrate Judge Hey explained in her Repod Recommendation, althgiu

Charleston named John Wetzbk Secretary dhe Pennsylvania Department@brrections, 8
the Respondent in this casechuse Charleston is currently incarcerated at the Greene State
Correctional Institution at Waysburg(“SCI-Greene”), Robert DGilmore, the Superintendent
at SCtGreene, has direct custody of Charlestoniaride proper defendant.
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2428 North 28 Street in Philadelphidn Septembe2009, Judge Overtosentence€harleston
to life imprisonment fothe murdeiand a oncurrent term of 3 to 24 months’ imprisonment for
the weapons offense.

Upon review of Charleston’s Petitiodnited States Magtrate Elizabeth T. Heigsued a
Report and Recommendation (R&R) recommending thatetiedd bedenied. ECF No. 21.
Charlespntimely filed dbjections to the R&R. ECF No. 24. After de novo review and for the
reasons set forth below, the R&R is adopted in part andetit#oR isdenied.

I. Factual andProcedural History

The Court adopts the factual and procedural histospasnaried by Magistrate Judge
Heyin the R&R, as there are no objections to this portion of the R&R.

II. Standard of Review

When objections to a report and recommendation have been filed under 28 U.S.C.

8 636(b)(1)(C), the district court must make a de novo review of those portions of the report to
which specific objections are mad&ample v. Dieck$8385 F.2d 1099, 1106 n.3 (3d Cir. 1989);
Goney v. Clark749 F.2d 5, 6-7 (3d Cir. 1984) (“providing a complete de novo determination
where only a general objection to the report is offered would undermine the effithenc
magistrate system was meant to contribute to the judicial process”yi¢Didburts, however,

are not required to make any separate findings or conclusions when reviewingtadag

Judge’s recommendation de novo under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 6364id).V. Barnacle 655 F. App’x.

142, 147 (3d Cir. 2016). The district court “may accept, reject, or modify, in whole or in part, the

findings and recommendations” contained in the report. 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C) (2009).
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V. Analysis

Charleston’s Petition preseritge claims for relief. First, he contends that the
Pennglvania courts acted contrary to clearly established federaliaglerMiranda?, in
allowing the admissioat trial of a statement he madie a detective while in custod$econd, he
contends that the admission of evidence of his tattoo deprived him of a fundamentéilgl fair
Charleston’s third, foult, and fifth claims each assert the ineffective assistance atdriakel.
Specifically, he claims he was deprived of effective assistahceunsel when his counggl)
failedto request a proper instruction to the juggardinghe hearsayestimonyof a witness; (2)
failedto object when, in the course of the tjiadge’sclosing instructions tthe jury, theydge
advised the jury that Charlestonigputation for telling the truth is badind (3) failed to ask
that the jury be instructed as to the possible verdict of involuntary manslaughter.

The Magistrate Jugk, in her R&Rrecommendedenying relief on each of theBee
claims Charleston’s Statement of Objections to the R&Bsents fiv@bjections, or sets of
objectionsto the Magistrate Judge’s analysiseach claimThe Court addresses Charleston’s
objections in turn. As explained below, although the Court agrees with the Magistigeethat
Charleston is not entitled to relief on any of the five grounds presented in higr? ¢tié Court
departs from the R&R’s analysis in some respects and, accordingly, adop&Rhe part.

A. Objection One, concerning the admission of Charleston’s statement, is overruled.

I. Introduction

Charleston’s first objection to the R&R concerins admissibility of a statemehé made

to Homicide Detetive Greg Singleton. As explained in detail below, Charleston was taken into

2 Miranda v. Arizona384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966) (holding that “the prosecution may not use
statements, whether exculpatanyinculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the
defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards dffesgmae the

privilege against selihcrimination.”).
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police custody the evening of July 16, 2009, and was questipredtective Singletothe
following morning After obtaining some biographical information from Chstde, the
detectiveasked Charleston about the circumstances of Stantonts dadtCharleston
“described his inglvement in the incident.” Theetective themprovided theMirandawarnings
to Charleston and took a formal statenfemtn him, which the detetive transcribed.

In a pretrial motion, Charleston moved to suppresfohisal postwarningstatemat,’
arguing that it was coerceal violation ofMiranda. After asuppression hearing, the motiaas
denied, andhe post-warningstatementvas read into the record during the trighe
Pennsylvania Superior Court affirmeckttrial court’s ruling that the statement was admissible.

In hispresenPetition,Charleston contends that Detective Singleton deliberately
withheld theMirandawarnings until after hdvad obtained a confession (i.e., the initial, pre-
warning statemengnd that théormal, postwarningstatement wathereforeinadmissible under
therule established by tHgnited StateSupreme Couiih thecase oMissouri v. Seibert542
U.S. 600 (2004). The Magistrate Judge, in the R&R, found that Charkestatement was
admissible undeBeibertand that Charleston was not entitled to relief on this cl@inarleston
objects to this analysis and contends 8&iberf properly understood, renders fosmal, post-
warningstatement inadmissible.

il Factual and procedural background

The factual background of Charleston’s statement is as follows. Around 9:00 plaly on
16, 2008, approximately one morgfier William Stanton’s deattRhiladelphia Polic®©fficer
Anthony Soliman and his partner, responding to a 911 call concerning the presence of a

homicide suspect in thareadrove to 28 andHagertStreetswhere they encountered

3 The government did not introduce the praming statement at trial and the admissibility

of that statement is not at issue here.
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Charleston, who matched thesgtripton of the suspectSuppression Hearindl.T., Aug.17,
2009, at 8-34hereinafter Suppr. N.T.”).The officers toldCharlestorthat they needetd ask
him some questions but that he was not under arrest, and they asked him to sit in the@amolice ¢
Id. at 10, 30. Charleston agreed to doldoat 10, 30While Charleston was sitting in the car,
Clara Stanton, the mother of the victim, approached the officers and told them thas $she wa
one who had called 911 and that Charleston had murdered h&Yiiam Stantonld. at 1213.
Officer Soliman asked Charleston what he knew aldlitam Stanton, an@harlestorstated
that he knew nothindd. at 14 39, 43-44. @icer Soliman then called thedficideUnit, and
Detective Singletorwho had been investigating the Stanton murtdéd,Officer Solimarto
handcuff Charleston arfating him tothe stationld. at 14 80; Trial N.T., Aug.24, at 512.*
Officer Soliman told Charleston that sonmetettives wanted to talk to him, aretofficers
brought Chagstonto theHomicide Unitof the police stationwhere they arrivedt about 9:35
p.m. Suppr. N.Tat 33 36.

After Charleston was brought to the statiofficer Sdiman, along withDetective
Singleton took Charleston into anriterviewroom.” Id. at 35 52, 79.0fficer Soliman dichot
know if the door was locked, but both Officer Soliman amdebtive Singleton acknowledged

thatCharleston was ot free to leave at that poind. at 35 80.

4 At the suppression hearing, Detective Singleton testified thaiawe of his inestigation,

hehad taken the statement of a man named Gary Outlaw, wholtdte detective thdte saw
Charleston and Stanton enter the residence at 2428 Ndt2®tshortly before the shooting
and that later that evening Charleston confessed to him that he had shot SeeSoppr. N.T.
at 4851. Detective Singleton testified that Outlawtatement was one of the main reasons he
wanted to speak with Charlestad. at 512.

Ultimately, the contents of Outlaw’s statement were not presented at trialdr@uitaw
testify at trial. Rather, the jury heard testimony that police officers servediQOuitla a
subpoena to appear on the first day of trial and that, after he failed to appear, Jexdge O
issued a bench warrant for him, but the officers were unable to locate Outlawuteakec
warrant.SeeTrial N.T., Aug. 24, at 5-12.
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Detective Singleton testified that aftex helped place Charlestanthe interview room
that evening, he briefly spoke with Charleston but declined to interview him at tedbi¢itause
he appeared to be “under the influence of either alcohol or saretics substanceld. at 5t
53.Detective Singletodid not mention to Charleston anything about the Stanton kilkhet
54.The detectivdeft Charlestoralone in the room at about 10:00 p.m. and did not see him again
until 10:00 a.m. the next morninigl. at 7879, 88.

At 10:00 a.m. the next morninBetective Singletgralong with another detective,
returned to the interview roomhereCharleston had been plac&ektective Singletombserved
that Charleston “appeared to be sober and more coheseadtl/ie gave him a cheese sandwich
and waterld. at 54, 90. He begaasking Charlestobiographical questiona order to fill out a
biographical formld. at 54 Charleston was cooperative in answering these questibas$ 55.
After Detective Singletonompleted the biographical forme“asked[Charleston] about the
circumstances surrounding the murder of William Stanton, and [Charlestolajned in some
detail what occurred in the houséd” at 56.Detective Singleton testified that when he first
started speaking to Charlestabout the inaent, Charlestofwas immediately receptiveld. at
71°

Detective Singleton testified that, after Charleston explained whatredan the house,

“[a]t some point, | stopped [Charleston] and read him his rights and prepared the memorandum

> The testimony in this paragraph is taken from the pretrial suppression h@atimj,

Detective Singleton similarly testified thatter completing the biographical forime “asked
[Charleston] about the incident involving the murder of William Stanton. And he descrsbed hi
involvement in the incideritSeeTrial N.T., Aug. 21, at 15Detecive Singleton also testified at
trial that when he first asked Charleston about the incident, Charleston \gas teapeak with
[him]” and was “very calm and cooperativeéd. Further, Detective Singleton testified thdten

he spoke with Charleston, dal not tell Charlestoabout any evidence that he (Detective
Singleton) already had abahe caseld. at 193.
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form for . .. the sheets, the warnings for hishis, and he signed off on thenid’ at 56°
Specifically, Detective Singleton used a “331 form,” which “reflects the warnings and the
information on who’s being interviewed, the date, time, location, who's interviewithgvho’s
present at the time of the intervievd’ at 57. Detective Singleton testified that, as reflected on
the form, he read a series of warnings to Chamtesoncerning his right® remain silent and to
have an attorney, and Charleston predithis signature or initialsnder each warning,

signifying that he understood his righiis. at 5760.

Detective Singleton testified that peovided he Miranda warningsto Charlestorat
approximately 10:20 a.nSeeTrial N.T., Aug. 21, at 160 After Charleston signed the forms
waiving hisMiranda rights Detective Singleton “then proceeded to take a statement from
[Charlegon], a formal statementSuppr. N.T. at 56. In so doinDetective Singleton asked
Charleston a series ofigstions about the shooting, and the detective transcribed the questions
and answers onto the above-mentioned 75-331, fafter which Charlestoreviewed anagigned
theform, as well a “statement adoption attestation forah. at 5670. The interview was
completed at 120 p.m.Id. at 69.Detective Singleton testified that Charleston “seemed very
cooperative and eagex tell his portion of the story” during the course of makingstagement.

Id. at 70. The interview was completed at 12:20 p.m., about two hours and twenty minutes after
it had begunld. Later that day, Charleston was formally arrested for Stanton’s middat.71.

In Charleston’s formal statement, which Detective Singleton read intodbel rduring

the suppression heariagd at trial Charleston stated that on June 15, the day of the shooting, he

6 Similarly, at trial, Detective Singleton testified that, after Charleston destchis
involvement in the incident, “at some point | stopped him and | read him his rights and we
proceeded to take a formal intervieéeTrial N.T., Aug. 21, at 154.

! Detective Singletomlsotestified that “[m]ayb&0 minutes elapsed” from the time he
completed the biographical form and took Charleston’s stateideat.187-88.
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and Stanton were standing outside on the street “talking aboxathes” (Xanax pillsthat

Charleston wanted to buy from Stanton, when they decided to enter the residence on 2428 North
25" Streetto conduct the transactiolul. at 62 65, 66 After they entered the residence, they

began to argue about the pills, at which point, according to Charkestatement‘[Stanton]

pulled out the gun andstarted rustling with him over the gun. While | was rustling with him,

the gun went off about three times. | took the gun and left the house threw it into theigletve

on the corner of [2§ Street.”Id. at 63.Charlestorstated that theup was “in both of our

hands” when the shots were firéd. He added thd{i]t was selt-defensé and“[i]t's not like |

pointed it at him and shot him or nothing like thadl.”at 69.

Before trial, Charleston moved to supgpréss formal postwarningstatement, arguing
that among other things, he was subjected to coercive conditions when he was kept in the
interview room overnightid. at 105. The trial judge held a suppression heaaithe
conclusion of which hdeniedthe motion, finding that tle Miranda warnings were properly
given,thatthere was “n@vidence of coercion,” and that, on the contrdrgre was evidence of
a lackof coercion, “given the provisions of food and the ability to sleep to ward off the edfects
substances which caust intoxication.”ld. at 115-19.

Ondirectappeal, the Pennsylvania Superior Court affirmed the trial court’s denial of
Charleston’s motion to suppress kiatementSee Com. v. Charlestoh6 A.3d 505 (Pa. Super.
Ct. 2011),abrogated on other groundsy In re L.J, 79 A.3d 1073 (Pa. 2013). In lpsesent

Petition, Charleston contends ttia¢ Pennsylvania courtsletermination that his statement was
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admissibleat trialwas contrary to clearly established federal law, particularly as set fotite by
United States Supreme Court in trese oMissouri v. Seibert542 U.S. 600 (2004).

ii. United StatesSupreme Court case law on “twestep interrogations”

The interrogation at issue in this case is an exampihat is known as awo-step
interrogaton” (or “two-stage interviewdr “questionfirst procedurey), in which officers first
elicit acustodial statement without providiljranda warnings and then, after providing the
warnings.elicit a second statement. In this case, as detailed abetextive Singleton initially
elicited a statement from Charleston about his involvement in the Stanton murder aaftéhen,
obtaining this initial statement, read CharlestonMirenda rights and obtained a formal
statement, which the detective tramised and which was introduced at trial. In cases involving
two-step interrogations, generally the initial, pvarning statement igdearlyinadmissibleHere,
as noted abovehére was no attempt to introduce Charleston’s initial statement aBtrtaiften
a contestedssue in such cases, as here, is whether the seconehgrastg statement is
admissibleAs the Magistrate Judgsbservedanoverview of theelevantUnited States
Supreme Court case lam this issue is helpful in order to understamel parties’ arguments
concerning what constitutes “clearly established Federal law” in this area.

Two-step interrogations wefest specifically addressedylihe Supreme Court in the

case ofOregon v. Elstadd70 U.S. 298 (1985), in which anficer inadvertently elicited a

8 Under the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPpgtiaon

for habeas corpus may be granted ohtire sta¢ court’s adjudication of the clai(t) “resulted

in a decision contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly establidaeal Fe
law, as determined by the Supremeai@f the United States;” or (2) “resulted in a decision that
was basé on an unreasonable determination of the facts in ligthteoévidence presented in the
State court proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. § 22544dylecision by a state court is contrary to clearly
established federal laifvit “applies a rule that contradicts thevgwning law set forth in our
cases’or if it “confronts a set of facts that are materially initiguishable from a decision of”

the Supreme Courghd nevertheless arrivasa result different from [the Court’ptecedent.”
Price v. Vincent538 U.S. 634, 640 (2003).
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custodial statement prior to administerMgandawarnings and themfterproviding the
warnings,obtained a more complete statemétavesing the state court’s determinatitrat the
second statement must be suppressedStupreme€ourt heldthat “absent deliberately coercive
or improper tactics in obtaining the initial statement, the mere fact that a suspectieaaama
unwarned admission does not warrant a presumption of compuwgittnrespect to the second
statementld. at 314.Rather “[t|he relevant inquiry is whether, in fact, the second statement was
also voluntarily made” and, “[a]s in any such inquiry, the finder of fact mustiexathe
surrounding circumstances and the entire course of police conduct with respectispéue is
evaluating the voluntariness of his statements.at 318. The Court held that “[a] subsequent
administration oMirandawarnings to a suspect who has given a voluntary but unwarned
statement ordinarily should suffice to remove the conditions that precluded iadnoisthe
earlier statementfd. at 314.

Nearly twenty years latein Missouri v. Seiberts42 U.S. 600 (2004), the Supreme Court
again confronted a two-step interrogation, but under a very different set oMfhetseas the
initial interrogation irElstadhad been brief and inadvertent, the technique usBdibert
revealed a police strateglyat was, by the officers’ own admission, “adapted to undermine the
Mirandawarnings” and included prearningquestioninghat was $ystematic, exhaustive, and
managed with psychological #Ki Seed. at616 (2004) (plurality. Although a majority of the
Court determined that the suspect’s pmathing statemenis Seibertmustbe suppressed, the
Justicesvere unable to agree omrejority opinion.Rather, the resuih Seibertincluded a
plurality opinion authored by Justice Souter, in which three other Justices jaicedcurrence

by Justice Breyeryho joined the plurality opiniobut wrote separately articulate his own test
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and an opinion by Justice Kennedy concurring in the judgment Diméyfour remaining Justices
dissented.

Justice Souter’s plurality opinion Beibertconcludedhat theadmissibility of statements
made after a twgtep interrogation depends on “whethMeranda warnings delivered midstream
could be effective en@l to accomplish their object,” based on an objective indrorg the
perspective of the suspeat which the followindfive factorsshould beconsidered

[1] the completeness and detail of the questions and answers in the first round of

interrogation|[2] the overlapping content of the two statemej3sthe timing and

setting of the first and the secorjd] the continuity of police personnel, afts]

the degree to which the interrogatorjuestions treated the second round as

continuous with the first.

Id. at 615(plurality). The plurality opinion noted that “[b]ecautte intent of the officer will
rarely be as candidly admitted as it was herethe focus is on facts apart from intent that show
the questiorfirst tactic at work’ 1d. at 617 n.6.

Justice Kennedyconcurring only in the judgmemyote thathe ageed with the
plurality’s decision that Seibert’s statements must be suppressée @agtee[d] with much in
the careful and convincing opinion for the plurality,” but he wrote separately forgehis own
approach, which differed from the pluralitygpproachin some respectstd. at 618 (Kennedy,
J., concurring). Justice Kennedy explained that he believed that the plurafityisheh
“envisions an objective inquiry from the perspective of the suspect, and applies in thé case

both intentional and unintentional two-stage interrogations, . . . cuts too brdddbt621-22.

In particular, Justice Kennedy believed tapplying“a multifactor test . . to every twcstage

9 Justice Breyer, although joining the plurality, wrote separately to bt#tbe would

adopt the following rule: “Courts should exclude the ‘fruits’ of the initial unwémqeestioning
unless the failure to warn was in good faitll’at 617 (Breyer, J., concurring). He considered
this test functionally equivalent to the plurality’s approach, and he also expeggsement with
Justice Kennedy’s concurring opinion “insofar as it is consistent with fthigs” test] and
makes clear that goodfaith exception appliesd.
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interrogatiori could undermine the clarity dfliranda. Id. at 622. hstead, Justice Kennedy
wrotethat he “would apply a narrower test applicable only in the infrequent case . . . in tlikich
two-step interrogation technique was used in a calculatedovarydermine thdliranda
warning.”ld. In other words, under JustiE@nnedy’s approachhe court begins by asking
whether a “deliberate twstep strategy has been usdd.”If so, then“postwarning statements
that are related to the substance of prewarning statements must be excludecltatiess
measures are taken before the postwarning statement is nehtfdf’ however, a deliberate
two-step strategy was not employdden the court should apply the test previously articulated
by the Supreme Court tlstad and the question simply would be whether the subsequent
statementvas voluntary. In sum, for Justice Kennedy, “[w]hen an interrogator uses [a]
deliberate, twestep strategy, predicated upon violatMganda during an extended interview,
postwarning statements that are related to the substance of prewaremgsta must be
excluded absent specific, curative stepd.’at 621.

Finally, Justice O’Connor, writing for the four dissenteeggcted the plurality’s
appro&h because she believed it gawesufficient deference t&lstad” but she also disagreed
with Justice Kennedy’'s approgdbelieving that it placeonproper weight on the subjective
intent of the officerld. at 622-29 (O’Connor, J., dissenting).

Following the Supreme Courtiecisionin Seiberf a cleammajority of Circuit courts
have heldhat Justice Kennedy’'s concurrencéhis controlling opinion in thease This

majority includes the Third Circuit, which held linited States v. Naranjd26 F.3d 221 (3d

10 Such measures “should be designed to ensure that a reasonable person in the suspect’

situation would understand the import and effect oMiranda warning and of th#liranda
waiver.” Id. Examples of such curative measures inclladsubstantial break in time and
circumstances” between the prewarning statement aridithada warning” or “an additional
warning that explains the likely inadmissibility of theewarning custodial stateménid.
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Cir. 2005), that “Justice Kennedy'’s opinion provides the narrowest rationale for ngstbigi
issues raised by twstep interrogations wheMirandawarningsarenot administered until after
police obtain an inculpatory stateménd. at 231-32Butin view of the divided nature of the
Seibertdecisiona small minority ofCircuit courts havéndicatedthat theSeibertcase lacks a
clear holdingSee Reyes v. LewB33 F.3d 1001, 1002 (9th Cir. 2016dllecting cases).

Iv. The Pennsylvania Superior Courts decision Charleston’s Petition,and the
Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation

In upholding the denial of Charleston’s pretrial motion to suppress, the Pennsylvania
Superior Courtlosely examined thenited StateSupreme Court’s decisions itistadand
Seibert Specifically rejeting the Third Circuit’s hlging in Naranjoand sinilar cases from
other Circuitsthe Superior Court concluded th&eibertestablishes no new binding precedent.”
Charleston 16 A.3d at 525In this respect, the court stated that it was persuaded by a dissenting
opinion authoredby the Honorable Marsha S. Berzon of the Ninth Circuit, véasoned that
“while Justice Kennedy’s was the cral fifth vote for the result . . . Justice Kennedy'’s opinion
is notthe narrowest opinion embodying a position supported by dtfieagdusties in the
majority’ because his intefitased approach was “saely rejected by seven Justicesg., the
four dissenters as well as three of the four Justices who joined the pluratitynod. at 525
(quotingUnited States v. Rodriguézeciadq 399 F.3d 1118, 1138-40 (9th Cir. 2005) (Berzon,
J., dissenting)}* The Superior Court concluded thmcauséeibertdid not establismew
precedent, the court wasquired to apply the standard set forth in the Supreme Ceartisr

Elstadcaseld.

1 Judge Berzon concluded that of the four members of the plurality, only Justice, Breye

his concurrence, arguably agreed with Justice Kennedy’s “subjective-ofteheinterrogator
position.” See RodriguePreciadq 399 F.3d at 1140 (Berzon, J., dissenting).
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Applying that standard, the Superior Court focused on whether Charleston’s post-
warningstatement was knowing and voluntary. The court reviewed Detective Singleton’s
testimony that he read Charleston his rights, that Charlestonmwaetiiately receptiveand
was “very cooperative and eagerdive his portion of the story,” aridat Charleston was given
something to eat and drirluring the interrogatiarid. at 526.“Under these circumstances,” the
court had “no difficulty concluding that [Charleston’s] waiver of his rights andubsegjuent
statement were both knowing and voluntaigl.

Charleston contends that the Superior Coditasion was contrary tdearly established
federal law.That is, he contends thastice Kennedy’s concurrenceSeilertis clearly
established federal laand that, under that standahn@, was entitled tthe suppression of his
statementn particular, he contends that the “sequence of interrogation demonstrateg that
detectives deliberately withheMirandawarnings until afterobtaining a confession”; in other
words,“the initial violation ofMirandawas not merely hapless or inadvertent but was clearly the
result of an intentional withholding designed to prevent [him] from invoking his rightsler or
to obtain a confession.” Pet'r's Mem. Supp. 3, 5, ECF No. 9.

Respondents contend that, despite the Third Circuit’s holdiNguianjo, Justice
Kennedy’s opinion is not clearly established federalilalight of the diversity of approaches
that dher federalircuit courts(and state courtd)ave taken t&eibert Further, Respondents
contend that even if Jus¢ Kennedy’s concurrence weskearly established federal law
Charleston would not be entitled to relief, because there is no evidenBetéetive Singleton
deliberately withheld th#lirandawarnings prior to Charleston’s initial statemefinally,
Respondents contend that even if the state court’s ruling was contrary tp ettablished

federal law, Charleston cannot show thatabtmission of his statemefthad substantial and
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injurious effect or influence in determining the jury’s verdict,” underdtandard set forth by the
United StateSupreme Court iBrecht v. Abrahamsor507 U.S. 619 (1993

The Magistrate Judgeviewedtherelevant case law in this area, includthg Third
Circuit’s decisionin Naranjo, andultimately concluded that the Coum¢ed not decide whether
Justice Kennedy’s concurrenceclearly establishetederal lawRather, the Magistrate Judge
agreed wih Respondents that, even endustice Kennedy’'s approa&@harleston’s statement
would be admissible because “there is no evidence in the record that Detectig®oBing
failure to Mirandize Charleston was purposeful or part of agiage technique as Seibert’
R&R 23.The Magistrate Judgeroceeded to review the Superior Court’s analysis uBkitad
andconcluded that the Superior Court’s decision was neither contrary to nor an unreasonable
application ofElstad nor did it result in an unreasonalletermination of the facts.

Objecting to the Magistrate Judg@nalysis, Charleston conterttiat “[t]he absence in
the record of any specific reason for the omissioMichnda warnings prior to the first stage of
interrogation should be held against the Respondent, not the Retiasrthe Magistrate Judge
has appareht concluded.”Pet’r's Statement of Objectianll, ECF No. 24hereinafter Pet'r's
Objections”) He argues that thersHould be no presumption that the failure to provide
warnings was nafeliberate, especially in a case where the detective conducts a second interview

with full warnings” Id. at11-12.

12 See Brecht v. Abrahamsd@07 U.S. 619, 637 (1993) (holding that a federal court may
grant habeas relief based on trial error only when that error “had sublséaatisjurious effect
or influence in determining the jury’s verdict™ (qtilog Kotteakos v. United State328 U.S.

750, 776 (1946))).

13 Charleston has not challesdjthe state courts’ or the Magistrate Judg#stadanalysis
as such; rather, as discussed above, Charleston maintaiBeithert notElstad is controlling

in this case. In any event, the Court adopts the Magistrate Judge’s deteminatiSuperior
Court’s decision is neither contrary to nor an unreasonable applicatidstafiand did not
result in an unreasable determination of the facts.
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V. De novoreview

At the outset, this Court acknowledges that the question of whktkitce Kennedy's
concurrence isclearly established éderal law” for the purposes of habeas corpus review is not
easy to resolveAs mentioned above, cleamajority ofthe Circuit Courts-including the Third
Circuit—have heldhat Jistice Kennedy’s concurrence constitutes the holdir@gibert
Dissenting from this majoritfhjowever, one Circuit court has held tBaibertiacks a clear
holding,seeUnited States v. Rag03 F.3d 244, 272 (6th Cir. 2015) (“[W]e conclude heitbert
did not announce a binding rule of law with respect to the admissibility standard ¢onestés
given subsequent to midstrediranda warnings.”), and a number of other Circuit courts have
found the matter to be uertain,seeUnited States v. Wid684 F.3d 216, 221 (1st Cir. 2012)
(“[H] ow to read the split decision Seibertmay be an open questitn** United States v.
Heron 564 F.3d 879, 885 (7th Cir. 2009In(the case oBeibert the only thing we know for
sure is that at least seven members of the Court rejected arddaseat approach and accepted
some kind of exception tBIstad even if the scope of that exception remains uncle&tJhited
States v. Carrizales-Toled454 F.3d 1142, 1151 (10th Cir. 2006) (“[A]Jrguably Justice
Kennedys proposed holding in his concurrence was rejected by a majority of the’Court.

Disagreement among the Circuits a given issuemay be indicative of a lack of clarity

in the Supreme Cougjurisprudence SeeHall v. Zenk 692 F.3d 793, 799 (7th Cir. 2012). But

14 Despite this statement Widi, there is First Circuit authorityupporting the positiothat

Justice Kennedy’soncurrence is controlling. ldnited States v. Roger859 F.3d 74 (1st Cir.
2011) (Souter, J.), Retired Associate Justice Souter, siting by designationiaddnstice
Kennedys concurrence as thedntrolling opiniori in Seibertand analyzed the defendant’s
interrogation under that standard.

15 Prior toHeron, however, the Seventh Circuit hieudlicated thatustice Kennedy’s
concurrence isontrolling.SeeUnited States v. Petersofil4 F.3d 825, 828 (7th Cir. 2005)
(“[ Seibert holds that postvarning statements are inadmissible if they duplicateyamaing
statements intentionally elicited &n effort to evad®liranda.”).
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such disagreemedbes not necessarily mean that there is an absence of clearly established
federal lawon that issueSeeDennis v. Secretary, Pennsylvania Department of CorreGtR8v
F.3d 263 (3d Cir. 2016) (en banc) (holding tihatas clearly established federal law that
inadmissible evidence could be the basis Brady'® violation, despite the fact that a minority
of Circuit courts had held that only admissible evidence could be the basis for such a
violation);'’ seealsoWilliams v. Bitner 455 F.3d 186, 193 (3d Cir. 2006) (stating, in the context
of a qualified immunity analysis, that “[e]véour sister circuits had in fact split on the issue,
we would not necessarily be prevented from finding tratight wasclearly established”ut
see Garrus v. Seg'of Pennsylvania Dep’t of Corr694 F.3d 394, 416 (3d Cir. 2012)
(Hardiman, J., deenting) (“The existence of a circuit split demonstrates that it is wrong to
conclude that fairminded jurists could not disagree on the correctness of tleostagedecision
in this case.” (internal quotation marks and alterations omitteeg)generdy Ruth A.Moyer,
Disagreement About Disagreement: The Effect of A Circuit Split or “Otheu@iAuthority on
the Availability of Federal Habeas Relief for State Cony®&2sU. Cin. L. Rev. 831, 847 (2014).
Ultimately, however, the Court agrees witle fagistrate Judge thatrieed not resolve the
guestion of whether Justice Kennedy’s concurrence is “clearly establishexdiHad” becausge
even under Justice Kennedy’s stand@idarleston’§ormal statement was admissible.

As set forth above, the threshold question in Justice Kennedy’s test is whether a

“deliberate twestep strategy has been used” or, in other words, if “thestepinterrogation

16 Brady v. Maryland373 U.S. 83 (1963).

17 Commenting on the significancéarcuit splits in this contexthe court irDennis
observed that “[a]lthough the United States Supreme Court recently resdgmat circuit slits
may indicate a possibility of fairminded disagreement under AEDPA, it did scevihe circuit
split emerged out of an express reservation left by the Supreme Court on the pretisa que
decided by the state courtd. at 310 n.27. But, the court observed, the Supreme Court had
“made no such express reservations when it comBgatty materiality or an admissibility
requirement.’ld.
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technique was used in a calculated way to underminelitamdawarning.”® In applying
Justice Kennedy'’s test, couttave “review[ed}he totality of the objective and subjective
evidence surrounding the interrogations in order to determine deliberatdtheissd’ States v.
Capers 627 F.3d 470, 479 (2d Cir. 2018ge United States v. Shaitb3 F. App’x 121, 124
(3d Cir. 2012) (considering “the surrounding circumstances and [the officerigjaegtof his
own actions and motivation” to determine deliberatentdalherecrediblesubjectivesvidence
of the officer’s intent is availabl&, will “of course be persuasive, and often decisigee
United States v. Moor&70 F.3d 222, 230 n.3 (2d Cir. 2013)aird 463 F. App’x at 124
(“Critically, [the officer] testified that his [prevarning] conversation with the [defendant] was a
deliberate strategy to elicit a confession”). But because such evidenceitiftemunavailable
“in most instances, the inquiry will rely heavily, if not entirely, upon objective ecelé
Capers 627 F.3d at 479 (2d Cir. 2010). In seeking guidelines for how to assess “objective
evidence” in this context, courts have turned to the five factors articulatbe Sgibert

plurality, namely:

18 As the Magistrate Judgeoted, because the state courts did not consider Charleston’s

claim under Justice Kennedyanalysis, this Court must apply de novo review to this limited
portion of the claimSeeR&R 22 n.17 (citingAppel v. Horn 250 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2001)
(holding that thele rovo standard applies when state court did not reach mé&wsjett v.

Beard, 290 F.3d 500, 507-08 (3d Cir. 2002) (appling de novo review when state courts failed
utilize correct legal standard)).

19 As oourts applying this standard have observed, Justice Kennedy “did not articulate how
a court should determine whether an irdgator used a deliberate tgtep strategy.United

States v. Williams435 F.3d 1148, 1158 (9th Cir. 2006). “For example, Justice Kennedy’s
opinion is silent as to what, if any, presumptions apply or which party bears the burden of
proving or disprovingleliberatenessId. at 1159 n.11seeCapers 627 F.3d at 47¢'In Seibert
because the record was clear that the interrogating officers intentionallyigasgfully

employed a technique in which they had been instructed . . . Justice Kennedy had no reason to
explore how a court should determine when a $tap interrogation strategy had been executed
deliberately.”).
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[1] the completeness and detail of the questions and answess firstimound of

interrogation[;]

[2] the overlapping aatent of the two statements];]

[3] the timing and settingf the first and the second [interrogations;]

[4] the continuity of police personnel[;] and

[5] the degree to which the interrogator's questions treated the second round as

continuous with the first.
Seibert 542 U.S. at 615 (plurality). Although these factors “were developed b éiee}
plurality to gauge whéer the lateMiranda warnings ‘could be effective enough to accomplish
theirobject,” courts have found that they “likewise will often serve as helpful iadasi
whether an alleged twstep interrogation wastiended to circumveriliranda.” SeeMoore, 670
F.3d at 2307

A review of the evidencim this case leads tleourtto conclude that Respondents have
shown by a prepaterance of the evidence that the detectiidsot engage in a deliberate two-
step strategy to deprive Charleston ofMisandarights. The Court begins by observing thiag
record lacks angubjective evidnce ofDetective Singleton’stent. As set forth above,
Detective Singleton testifietthat, prior to administering thkliranda warnings, he asked
Charleston “hout the circumstances surrounding the murder of William Stanton,” in response to
which Charleston “explained in some detail what occurred in the fiarms#®that “at some
point” thereafter the detective provided tie#anda warnings to CharlestoBut Detective
Singleton did not testify as tehyhedid not provide thélirandawarnings befae asking

Charleston abouhe circumstanced &tanton’s murder, nor did he testify as to why he chose to

administer the warnings when he did.

20 These factors are not exhaustive, however, nor are they to be applied in a mechanical

fashionto each and every case, as such anogghwould seem to undermine Justice Kennedy’s
concern that applying “a multifactor test . . . to every-stage interrogation” may serve to
undermine the clarity dliranda. SeeSeiberf 542 U.S. at 622 (Kennedy, J., concurring).
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Turning to the objective evidendég firstSeibertfactor considers the “completeness and
detail of the questions and answers in the first round of interrogation.” Inytarticourts have
found that where the pre-warning questionintsistematic, exhaustive, ancamaged with
psychological skill, as inSeibert it is more likely that the omission of tMiranda warnings
was deliberateSeeUnited States v. AguilaB84 F.3d 520, 525 (8th Cir. 2004) (concluding that,
underSeibert “the Miranda warnings between the two questioning sessions did not serve the
purpose of the dictates Miranda,” where,inter alia, “the first questioning session consisted of
more than routine booking questions, included some good cop/bad cop questioning tactics, and
lastedapproximately ninety minutes”). Conversely, when an interrogation is lngimore
likely that the onission ofMirandawarningwas not deliberaté&SeeUnited States v. Williams
681 F.3d 35, 44 (2d Cir. 2012) (determining that omissidvlicinda warnings was not
deliberate when, among other factdhg initial questioning was “brief and spareUnited
States v. Materagl83 F.3d 27, 33 (1st Cir. 200(@eterminingthat omission oMiranda
warningswas not deliberate wheramong other factor&he first questioning was not at all
systematic or extensive” (internal quotation marks omittédhjted States v. Streed 72 F.3d
1298, 1314 (11th Cir. 200Qletermining thathe omission was not deliberate where, among
other factors, there-warning questioningvas “brief and general’jut seeJnited States v.

Young No. 15-50158, 2017 WL 6603511, at *2 (9th Cir. Dec. 27, 2017) (finding detectives
deliberately engaayl in a two-step interrogation where, among other things, they interrogated the
defendant “at theolice station for at least twenty minutes withpuviding anyMiranda
warnings”).Similarly, where the pravarning questioning is non-confrontational, it is more

likely that the omission dflirandawarnings was not deliberatéeeUnited States v. Nunez-

Sanchez478 F.3d 663, 668—69 (5th Cir. 2007) (determining that there was “no evidence of a

20
032918



deliberate attempt to employ a tstep strategy” when“[a]ll evidence suggests that [the suspect]
was calm and cooperative, and the agents did not act with aggressiveness of lolosirid
brief prewarning questioning).

Here,Detective Singleton test&#d that headministered th&liranda warnings about
twenty minutes after he entered theerviewroomthat morning. Within that twentyinute
period, Detective Singleton gave Charleston water and a cheese sarabkethCharleston a
series of biographbd questions, and theasked Charlestoabout his involvement in the
shooting. Moreover, within this brief span of time, there is no evidence that iRetect
Singleton’s questioning of Charlestomsvin any respect systematic‘oranaged with
psyclological skill.” Rather according to Detective Singleton’s testimony, he sirfgdked
[Charleston] about the circumstances surrounding the murder of William Stanton,” and
Charlestonin response, “seemed eager to tell his portion of the story” and “explaineden so
detail what happened in the house.” Likewise, as indicated above, the trial judge fauhdrtha
was no evidence of coercitmefore or during the questioninbhe briefand non-confrontational
prewarningquestioning irthis casethen, is in shg contrast with the intensive and extended
prewarning interviewin Seibert a factor thatveighs in favor of finding that Detective
Singleton’s omission of thielirandawarnings was not deliberate.

The fifth Seibertfactor— concerning the degree to whitlfe interrogator’s questions
treated the second nod as continuous with the first—also weighs in favor of a finding of non-
deliberatenesm this caseln Seiberf as Justice Kennedy observéik officer’s intent to subvert
Mirandawas evidenced by the fact tlthe post-warning questioninggsembled a cross
examinatiofl in which the officer “canfronted the defendant with her inadmissible prewarning

statements and pushed her to acknowledge theegeSeibert 542 U.S. at 621 (Kennedy, J.,
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concurring) United States v. Gonzalez-Lauzd87 F.3d 1128, 1136 (11th Cir. 20@6) hus the
type of two-step questioningahfalls within Justice Kennedynarrow concurrence is the type
used inSeibert where officers in a calculated manner first obtained unwanogdhinating
statements from a suspeand then used those incriminating statements in the warned
interrogationin order to undermine the midstre&tirandawarnings: (emphasis added)Here,
by contrast, Detective Singleton’s post-warning questirgopenended in naturghe
detectivedid not pressure Charleston to conform his awrswo his earlier statement, nor did the
detective even refer back to that statement

In addition to the first and fiftseibertfactors, there are other consideratia@sghingin
favor of a finding of nordeliberatenesi this caseAs Respondents point out, Detective
Singleton had declined to interview Charleston the previous begiguse he believed
Charleston was not sober. Arguably, if Detective Singleton had been intent on subverting
Miranda, he would have seized the opportunity to question Charleston when his judggsent
possiblyimpaired. Further, as detailethove, on the night Charleston was taken into custody he
told Officer Soliman that he knew nothing about the Stanton killing. Although the record does
not reflect whether Detective Singleton and Officer Sahmdiscussed Charleston’s answels
a fair assumption that they had done so, given that they worked together on thg thanin
Charleston was bught to the station. Accordingly, Detective Singleton might well have
expected that Chigston in response to a neutrally-worded question abihé €ircumstances
surrounding the murder of William Stanton,” would continue to claim that he knew nothing
about the incident.

On the other hangeveral of th&eibertfactors weigh in the opposite direction. In

particular,under the third and fourtBeibertfactors thetwo interiogations occurred at the same
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place and timandthe same police personnel were present at e&etiagation, considerations
thatweigh in favor of a finding of deliberatenés<On balance, however, the Court finds that
there is a preponderance of evidence that Detectivée®ings initial omission oMiranda
warnings was nat deliberatattempt to subveitiranda. Particularly in view of the brief and
non-confrontational nature of the initial questioning and the open-ended and similarly non-
confrontational nature of the second questioning, the Courttheddetective’s initial failure to
read Charleston hidirandarights, “though unfortunate and unexplained, seems much more
likely to have been a simple failure to administer the warnings rather thateational
withholding that was part of a larger, nefarioustjl&ee Reinen. Larkins 379 F.3d 76, 91 (3d
Cir. 2004). Accordinglythe twastep interrogation in this case does not present the Court with
“the infrequent case . . . in which the tst@p interrogation technique was used in a calculated
way © undermine thirandawarning” %

Finally, the Court finds that even if Charleston’s statement was erroneously admitted, the

admission did not have “[a] substantial and injurious effectfrance in determining the jury’s

21 With respect to theecondSeibertfactor—concerning the overlapping content of the two

statements-there is limited information in the reabconcerning the details of Charleston’s

initial statement, but it appears that the content of that statemestriks to the second
statementSeeSuppr. N.Tat 7476.In any event, because this factor focuses on the response of
the defendant, rather than the conduct of the officer, it appears to be of limitgamiil

respect to discerning the officer’s state of mind, whicheddlcus of the present inquiry.

22 As indicated above, Charleston argues that the burden should be on the Government to
show that the initial omission of tiiranda warnings was not intentional. But althdug

number of courts have held that the burden in these circumstances rests with the &ayérnm
cannot be said that there exists “clearly established Federal law” on thes. ®edt United States

v. Capers 627 F.3d 470, 479 (2d Cir. 2010) (observing that the question “of whithhwsars

the burden of proving deliberateness or absence tlies¢oinsettled,” but agreeing with the

Eighth Circuit that the burden rests on the prosecution to disprove deliberatetinmggt)(died

States v. Ollig442 F.3d 1135, 1142 (8th Cir. 2QDdn any event, even if it were clearly
established that the Government bears the burden on this issue, there is a prepooiderance
evidence in this case that the omission ofMlir@ndawarnings was not deliberate.
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verdict,” under the standard set for Byecht v. Abahamson507 U.S. 619, 637 (1993). Under
this test, the cournay gant relief only if it has “grave doubt” as to whether the erabtrial
had a substantial and injurious effect or influer8®e Johnson v. Lam&50 F.3d 119, 133 (3d
Cir. 2017).In other words, [tlhere must be more than a ‘reasonable probability’ that the error
washarmful.” Id. (quotingDavis v. Ayala135 S. Ct. 2187, 2198 (2015)). The court’s rel®i
ask whether the constitutional errabstantially influenced the jurg’decsion.” See Adamson
v. Cathe] 633 F.3d 248, 25960 (3d Cir. 2011) (quotidéNeal v. McAninch513 U.S. 432, 436
(1995)). “If, when all is said and done, the [court’s] conviction is sure that the error did not
influence the jury, or had but veslight effect, the verdictand the judgment should stantd’”
(quotingO’Neal,513 U.S. at 437).The Spreme Court has cautioned that ‘the uncertain judge
should treat the error, not as if it were harmlessabut it affected the verdict.d. (quoting
O’Neal, 513 U.S. at 435).

As indicated above, Respondents contend that the admission of Charleston’s statement
did not caus®rechtprejudice in this case. This is because, in their viglwgrleston’s statement
was not a “confession” but rather was a “substdptedculpatory explanation of events,”
Charleston “freely admitted at trial that he shot the victim (or at least that the guardesth
while he struggled for control of it),” and the evidence that Charleston murdam@dstwould
have been overwhelmirgyen in the absence of his statement to police and testimony.” Resp.
28-29, ECF No. 18.

Charlestonon the other hand, contends that the admission of the statement did cause
Brechtprejudice in view of the fact that the statement was read to theajuryhat the
prosecutor, in her closing argument, “argued that [Charleston] had drasticaljedhas story”

at trial:
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The prosecutor pointed out that in the Petitioner’'s statement to the police, he had

told Detective Singleton that both of the parties Haglr hands on the firearm

while all three shots were fired; however, after hearing the ballistician testify that

thefirearm would have jammed in that scenario, the Petitioner testified at the trial

that his hand was on the victim’s arm and not on the firearm. Additionally, the

prosecutor argued that in the police interview, the Petitioner had said that he had

told his mother about setfefense, yet at trial, the Petitioner testified that he had

not so informed his mother.

Pet'r's Objectiondl 2.

The Qurt finds thatjn light of theevidence presendeat trial the admission of
Charleston’statementlid not have a substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining
the jury’s verdct underBrecht Charleston is correct that the prosecutor, in her closing argument,
pointed out several inconsistencies between Charleston’s statement tairad teistimony. But
this was by no means the focus of the prosecutor’s argument, nor was this the only ekatence
served to undermine Charleston’s credibility. Rattiere was a wide range of evidence
pointing to Charleston’s guilt and undermining his credibility.

Above all, the prosecutor showed that the account of the shooting that Charleston

presented in his testimony at tffalvas not believable in light of common sense and the other

23 Charleston does not contend thatthad testimony wasompelledby theadmission of

his statementSee Sierra v. BartowsKkNo. CIV.A. 11-1860 RMB, 2012 WL 4504246, at *11
(D.N.J. Sept. 27, 2012) (finding that the petitioner did not show that the admission of his
confession caused prejudice unBeechtwhen, among other factorsat‘no point did Petitioner
assert that he would not have testified at trial had he had his confession deemeésbinkzdon
that his testimony could have been substantively different from the one he gawgetidertrid’).
Moreover, in view of the evidence that Charleston had shot Stanton, ‘esatise theory was
the only recourse availaileo Charleston to justify the shooting, and it is more likely than not
that he would have testified even if his statement had not been ad@é@&eBurks v. Perin810
F.2d 199 (6th Cir. 1986) (concluding that the government’s use of the defendant’s involuntary
statement did not induce him to testify on his own belkibén a seHdefense theory was the
only recourse available tbhe defendant).
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evidence presented at tridls in his statement to Detective Singleton, Charleston testified at trial
that on the day of the shooting, after he and Stanton had entered the home at 2428"orth 25
Street to conduct a purchase of Xanax pills, they got into an argument about the pitenamial S
pulled out a gun, which Charleston attempted to wrestle away fronSeigirial N.T., Aug. 24,

at 3341, 52-110. Charleston testified that during the struggle over the gun, his hands were on
Stanton’s wrists and forearnd. at 48, 101-110. (As indicated above, this differed from his
statement, where he indicated that both of their hands were on the gun.) Charleston furthe
testified that thgun fired several times and Stanton fell to the ground, faceddwat.4243,
109-119. As Stanton was lying on his stomach, Charleston asked Stdrgavas &, but

Stanton did not respond, and Charleston was not sure if Stanton had bekh ah®fi2-118.

After Stanton failed to respond to him, Charleston took the gun out of Stanton’s handthexited
home with the gun concealed under his shirt, and then threw the gun into aldeatdd, 120-
124.He testifed that he threw the gun irsawer beaase he was concerned that one of the
neighborhood children might come across it if he left it in the hodsat 122123.

As the prosecutor contended in her closing argument, common sertbe amitlence
presentedt trial contradicte@very aspeadf this story. First, with respect to the shooting itself,
forensicevidence showed that Stanton had been shot three times, in the chest, lower abdomen,
and right thigh, and that the gunshot to his chest was fired from two to six inches away and
traveled horizontallgtraightthrough Stanton’s heart and lun§®eN.T., Aug. 21, at 62-114.

The evidence also showd#thtthe gun from which the shotgere fired requires that the trigger
mustbe pulled for each shot fired, with a force of six to seven podm@s.N.T., Aug. 21, at
124-30.Given these facts, it is nearly impossible to imaginetti@ashooting occurred as

Charleston testifiethatit did. That is, it is not credible th&harleston, who was smaller than
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Stanton, controlled Stantorfgrearmand wrist in such a way that he caused Stanton to shoot
himself three times-including one shot straight through the chest, from two to six inches
away—applying six to seven pounds of pressure on the trigger each time. In shbe, a
prosecutor argued, Charleston’s testimony that Stanton “shoots himself and thenesotati
shoot himself’ does not make senSeeTrial N.T., Aug. 24, at 176.

Charlestors testimony concerninlgis conduct after the shooting is similarly incredible.
As the prosecutor emphasized in her closing argument, the notion that Charleston ditizeot re
that Stanton had been shot when, by Charleston’s own account, Stanton was lying on the ground
in an unresponsive state, is not believable. Moreover, according to Charlestomsngst
Stanton was his friend. But, as the prosecutor pointed out, after the shooting, Charléstoio ma
effort to call 911 or otherwisseek helpLikewise, Charleston’s account of his decision to
dispose of the gun also mak#te sensewhen, if Charleston’s testimony about the
circumstances of the shooting were true, the gun would have had only Stanton’s fitgerpri
it, which would have been powerful evidence in support of Charleston’s account. Finally, the
jury heard evidence that Stanton’s body was found with only a set of keys, a cell b33
on his personSeeTrial N.T., Aug. 20, at 9&8But according to Stanton’s mother, Stanton had
over $500 on him earlier in the dandCharlestortestifiedthat Stanton had Xanapills. As the
prosecutor argued, the fact that Stanton was found without the money and pills supports the
prosecution’s theory that Charleston robbed Stanton.

The jury also heard testimony that, in the hours after the shooting, Charleston denied to

several persons that he hacbeat 2428 North 25Street or that he knew what had happened to
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StantonSeeTrial N.T., Aug. 19, at 88-89, 168-78.In particular, Stanton’s mothéeestified that
on the afternoon of the shooting, after trying unsuccessfully to reach her son bygtteosaw
Charleston walk by her house, coming from the direction of 2428 Noftis26et. Trial N.T.,
Aug. 21, at 48-61. She asked Charleston if he had seen her son, as the two were gooddriends a
she considered Charleston to be like a son tddheat 4852, 60-61. Charleston replied “no”
and kept walkingld. at 4852.

In short, even in the absence of Charleston’s statement, there was overwheldenges
of Charleston’s guilt and lack of credibility, and the prosecutor drew upon als@widience in
making her closing argument. In particular, the prosecutor closely exdthmaccount of the
shooting that Charleston presented in his testimony and showed that even if orteatakes t
account on its own termssetting aside its contradictions with Charleston’s statemns not
believable. Accordinglythe Court finds that the admission of Charleston’s statement did not
have a substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury’s tvendier
Brecht Even without Charlestésmstatement, there waserwhelming evidence that Charleston
murdered Stanton. Charleston’s first objection is overruled.

B. Objection Two, concerning theadmission oftattoo evidence, is overruled

Charleston’s second objection concerns his claim that his due process rights were

violated by the admission of evidence that he had a tattoo of tloks ViBy any means necessatry,

f--- it, s-- happens.” He contends ththeadmission of this evidence deprived him of a

24 Charleston’s presence at 2428 Nortf! S&reet at the time of the shooting was

established not only by his own testimony but also by a witness who, on the day of tirgshoot
shortly after hearing gunshots in the area, saw Charleston exit the housagreaavily and
then jog awaySeeTrial N.T., Aug. 19, at 73-86.
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fundamentally fair trial because the prosecutor used this evidence to imptapadi an attack
on his character,

The Magistrate Judgdetermined that Charlest@nocedurally defaulted on this claim
because htailed to present this claito the state court&ather, at the state level, Charleston
challerged the admission of the tattoo evideasébeing an erranly in state evidentiary
rulings, not dederaldue process violation. The Magistrate Judge acknowledged that
Charleston’s briein support of his direct appeal at the state level cited a federal case, namely,
Boliek v. Delp 912 F. Supp. 1199 (W.D. Mo. 1995), but the Magistrate Jddggmined that
Charleston’zitationto Boliek by itself, did not serve tootify the state cows that he was
challenging the admission of the tat@adence on due process groundsis is becausthe
relevant finding irBoliekwas that counsel’s failure to object to the admission of irrelevant tattoo
evidence violated the defendant’s right to effective assistarmeuatel, not that the admission
of such evidenceiolated the defendant’s due process ridfits.

Charleston objds that theBoliekopinion “went beyond the question of effective
assistance of counsel in order to determine whether or not the underlying claim of the
[defendant’s] ha@rguable merit.” Pet'r's Objectienl7. But théBoliek opinionwasclearthat
the issle on which it was ruling was the ineffectiveness of coufi§bls Court finds that trial

counsel was ineffective. His performance and the prejudice petitionerexlifis a result of his

25 On direct appal, the Superior Court heldat evidence of Charleston’s tattoo was

appropriately offered to rebut testimony offered by Charleston concerniggduscharacter—
namely, Charleston’s testimony that he had an aversion to firearms and tbainfpthe

shooting, he removed the firearm from the house and dumped it in the sewer out of concern for
public safetySee Charlestqrii6 A.3d at 528-29.

%6 Asthe Magistrate Judgeted, it appears from ttBoliek opinion thatthe defendant in

that case presented both ineffective assistance of counsel and due process et@msigadis

tattoo, but théoliekcourt ultimately analyzed only the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.
See Boliek912 F. Supp. at 1212.
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performance undermine this Court’s confidence in the outcome tiahand of the penalty
phase.Boliek 912 F. Supp. at 121Fhe Boliekcourt made no determination as to whether
admission of the tattoo evidence violated the defendant’s due process rights. Aggordin
Charleston’s citation tBoliekalonedid not aért the state court that he was challenging the
tattoo evidence on due process grounds, and Charleston’s objection on this point is o¥/erruled.

C. Objections Threethrough Five, concerning the ineffective assistance of counsel, are
overruled.

Charleston’s fial three objections concectaims of indfective assistance of counsel.

I. Objection Three, concerning counsel’s failure tabject to the trial court’s
limiting instruction for Clara Stanton’s testimony, is overruledin part.

Charkston’sfirst ineffectiveness of counsebjectionconcerngrial counsel’s failure to
object toa limiting instruction the trial cougave concerninghe testimony of Clara Stanton, the
mother of the victim.

During thetrial, theprosecution calletb the standh witness named Nashua Sanders, a
friend of Charlestorand an acquaintance of the victim and the victim’s motiara Stanton
The prosecutoaskedMs. Sandersvhether she had told Ms. Stanton that she (Sanders) had
conversation with Charleston in which Charleston stated that he planned to rob thelviatim.
N.T., Aug. 20, at 36Sanderslenied that she said this to Ms. Stanton, and shelatsedthat
Charleston had ever told her such a thldg.

FollowingNashuaSanders’s testimonyhe prosecutoratled Ms. Stanton as a witness.
When the prosecutor began to ask Ms. Stanton about whether she had a conversation with

Nashua Sanders about what had happened to her son, defense counsel objected and a sidebar

27 As the Magistrate Judgebserved, a procedural default may be excused if Charleston can

show cause and prejudice or that a failure to consider the claim result in a fundlamenta
miscarriage of justice, but here Charleston has not presented any gimerdase the default.
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discussion was held concerning whether Ms. Stanton could testify about what Mss $ader
purportedly said to held. at 63.The trial judge deferred issuirgdefinitive ruling on the matter
and later that same afternoon heard further argument from the parties. Tdwifmoarguethat
Ms. Stanton’s testimony would be admissible under Pennsylvania Rule of Evidencg 613(b
which permits the admission of extrinsic evidence of a witness’s prior iistemisstatentg
under certain circumstancexeed. at 103. The prosecutor arguéat this testimony was
“classic impeachment,” i.e., she would be impeaching Nashua Sanders by providemge of

a prior inconsistent statement that she ntadds. Sanderdd. at 105. e trial court ruled that
the testimony was admissible as extgrsvidence of a prior inconsistent statement, but advised
the attorneys thdiecause the statement was hearsayyould‘give a limiting instruction
because just [sic] the statement was daiels not mean it's trueld. at 108. The prosecutor then
statedthat she was not “asking for it to come in substantively. It's for impeachment psfpos
id. at 108, to which the trial court responded, “I'll allow it under that limited circantgs and

I'll give a limited instruction.”ld. at 109.Defense comsel stéed, “Yes, your Honor.1d.

Ms. Stantorwasthenrecalled to the stand, where she testiffetaboutthree weeks
after her son’s deatMs. Sandergold her about a conversation tishe Sanders) hadith
Charleston about a week before the shooting, in which Charleston said that he planned to rob the
victim. Id. at 111-12. Following Ms. Stanton’s testimony, thal court gave the following
limiting instruction:

Ladies and gentlemen, with regard to the testimony that you just heard, I'm just

going to give you an instruction and that evidence is not necessarily to be

accepted for the truth of the statements made by Ms. Sanders. t8tdhton,

okay. It doesn't— they were statements and you will be given additional
instructions at the appropriate time.
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Id. at 116. There were no objections made to this instruction. No further instruction rggardin
this testimonywas included in the closing instructions.

The parties agretat Ms. Stanton’gestimony was adissible solely for the purposd
impeachingMs. Sanders under Pennsylvania Rule of Evidence 613. Charleston contetius that
trial court’s instruction that Ms. Stanton’s statements weot fiecessarilyto be accepted for
the truthof the matter assedevas erroneous and prejudicial, and that counsel’s failure to
request a proper instruction deprived him of the effective assistance of counsel

In its review ofCharleston’s appeal under Pennsylvania’s Bastviction Relief Act
(PCRA), the Superior Court determined that Charlestorveided this clainfor two reasons.
SeeCom. v. Charlestgro4 A.3d 1012, 1021 (Pa. Super. Ct. 20Hrst, the Superior Court
determined that Charleston himiled to adequatelylevelop an argument undéommonwealth
v. Pierce 527 A.2d 973 (Pa. 1987Ayhich requires that, in order to prove counsel ineffective, the
petitioner must show that: (1) his underlying claim is of arguable meritp(#)sel had no
reasonable basis for his action or inaction; and (3) the petitioner suftevedl grejudice as a
resut. The Superior Courtedermined thaCharleston’s briefing (1) “fail[edio develop an
argument or presepertinent authority that the court’s use of the colloquial expression ‘not
necessarilyrendered its instruction fatally equivdgd2) “failfed] to develop an argument that
counsel had no reasonable basis not to request an additional instruction,”; and (3) failed to
develop an argument that there exists a “a reasonable probability that, but for scaltegpdd
unprofessional error in not requesting a second instruction, the result of the prgseaulitd

have been differerit Charleston 94 A.3d at 1021Secongthe Superior Courhdicatedthat
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Charleston waived this claim under Pennsylvania Rule of Appellate Proceduta)?} T®is is
because Charlestdmerely assume[dihat the statement at issue was introduced by the
Commonwealth as substantive evidence of [his] intent to commit ‘murder and robbdodsy;
than as evidence of an inconsistent statefreemdtbecause hmerely “relie[d] on a¢ngthy
guotation from the prosecutor’s closing arguntiin support of this claimld. at 1022.

In addition to its waiver analysis, the Superior Court also determined thaestbai$
“challenge to the jury instruction which the trial court actughlye does not have mefiin
view of the broad discretiahattrial courts have in phrasing their instructions under
Pennsylvania lawid. at 1021. Moreover, the court found that “trial counsel had an obvious
reasonable basis not to seek an additional instruction, which would have necessardgaem
the jury of the underlying statement that [Charleston] planned to rob the vitdim.”
Accordingly, the court concluded that Chatten’s claim “is waived and would not merit relfef.
Id.

In reviewing this claim as presented in Charleston’s habeas corpusr? été
Magistrate Judgaitially considered the question of whether the Court has an independent duty
to review the Supesr Court’s étermination that Charlestavaivedthis claimunder

Pennsylvania lawAs the Magistrate Judgebserved, several courts in thisdDit have

28 Pennsylvania Rule of Appellate Procedure Zal@®quireshat argumentsshall be

divided into as many parts as there are questions to be argued; and shall have dtdheduta
part—in distinctive type or in type distinctively distyed—the particular point treated therein,
followed by such discussion and citation of auities as are deemed pertinent.” RaA.P.
2119(a). Pennsylvania courts have held that, under this Ral&iture to develop an adequate
argument in an appet@brief may result in waiver of the clai®ee Com. v. Beshqr@l6 A.2d
1128, 1140 (Pa. Super. Ct. 20038e also Vaughter v. Fishédo. CIV.A. 12-00493, 2014 WL
1152540, at *9 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 24, 2014Jhe Pennsylvania waiver doctrine is, essentiafty
appellate pleading standard requiring that a party set forth authoritgetndlfdetails of a claim
in a manner allowing for meaningful review. . . . Meeting this standard has begnirecbby
the Third Circuit to constitute a procedural requirement.”).
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determined that the question of whether a habeas cpgpitisner complied with statppellate
rules“is a matter bstate law, beyond [the federal court’s] revieBeée Klein v. KelchneNo.
CIV.A. 02-8451, 2003 WL 22204561, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 4, 2@@&nlsoLeake v. Dillman
594 F. App’x 756, 759 (3d Cir. 201&]E]ven if the Superior Courihcorrectly deerad waived
certain of Petitiones ineffective assistance claims.habeas relief wad not be warranted, as it
is ‘well established that a state coanhisapplication of its own law does not generally raise a
constitutional claim’ (quoting Taylor v. Horn 504 F.3d 416, 448 (3d Cir. 2007))).
Nevertheless,elying onRolan v. Colemar680 F.3d 311 (3d Cir. 2012he Magistrate Judge
determined thathe Court has a duty to independently review the Superior Court’s analysis of the
waiverissue. R&R at 2F?

Applying that analysisthe Magistrate Judge reached the same conclusion as the Superior
Court, namely that Charleston waivéustclaim by failing tcadequately devep hisPierce
argument in his state court briefir§pecifically, theMagistrate Judgdetermined that
Charleston failed to adequately presamtargument that he had suffered actual prejudice, as his
sole argument on this point in egate courbriefingwas that‘[s]inceintent was the key issue
for the jury to resolvehe was surely prejudicedR&R at 53 (quoting Appellant’s Brief at 12-
13). Because Charleston “offered no argument or pertinent caselaw to bsteilihe

admission of such hearsay evidence regarding motive could resulifiarant resul,” the

29 In Rolan the Pennsylvania Superior Court had determined that the habeas corpus

petitioner waived certain claims when he failed to comply Ritkes 1925(d) and 2119(a) of the
Pennsylvania Rules of Appellate Procedure. 680 F.3d at 319. The federal disttiedomied

the Superior Court’s rationale, but the Third Circuit Court of Appeals disagreed, htiidirtge
petitioner had shown “substantial compliance” with these rules and that the SQmenits
finding of waiver should not preclude the federal court’s consideration of the petgiolaams.

Id.
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Magigrate Judgeoncluded that he failed to substantially compith Pennsylvania’s appellate
rules. R&R at 35-36°

Charleston objects that his PCRA briefing,drdfact, fairly present his argument on this
issue In particular, he directs this Court’s attentiortiie dissenting opinion of the Honorable
Judith Olson of the Superior Court, who disagreed with the conclusion of Superior Court
majority’s opinion that Charleston hadvaived this issue.

Reviewing this issue de novarst, with respect to gnwaiver issuethe Court agrees with
the Magistrate Judgdat, in light of the Third Circuit’s opinion iRolan the Courthas a
responsibility to independently review the Superior Court’s determination kfzeteSton
waived this claim. Having reviewedharleston’s PCRA briefing, the Court finds that although
Charleston’s argumewin this issue wasomewhat lacking in legal citahs and analysis, his
argument was sufficiently clear to avoid waiver of tke@m. As Judge Olson observed,
Charlestors brief “devoted over 1600 words, filling six and one-half pages, of his argument
section to addressing this single issue,” providing thirteen citations to trial tegtand four
case citationgCharleston 94 A.3d at 1029 (Olson, J., concurring and dissentingarticular,
with respetto the prejudice element of his claim, Charles@angument that “intent was the key
issue to resolve” was sufficiently clear where isvexident that one of thesues in this case

was wheher (as Charleston testified) tehooting occurred as the result of a struggle over

30 In the alternative, thMagistrate Judge determined that even if Charleston’s counsel

“lacked a strategic reason to not request another instruction, Charleston ctabiisthethat

there is a reasonable probability that there would have been a different rdszduhael done

so, in view oftheballistics evidence and testimony from the medical examiner that contradicted
Charleston’s testimony about the circumstances of the shooting. R&R at 36 n.24. Fugther, t
Magistrate Judge determined that Charleston’s defense “was underminedniyahidenial of

any knowledge of the incident . . . and his failure to seek help for the victim afsdrabeng,
maintaining that he did néhow Mr. Stanton had been shot, despite the fact that he was lying
motionless and unresponsive on the flotd.”
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Stanton’s gun owhether(as the prosecutor argued) the shooting occurred as the result of
Charleston’s attempb obtain Stanton’¥anax andnoney.

Second, wh respect to the merits of Charleston’s claim, this Court must defer to the
Superior Court’s determination that Charleston’s “challenge to the jury instrwehich the trial
court actually gave does not have merit” under PennsylvaniéSkesvPriester v. Vaugh882
F.3d 394, 402 (3d Cir. 2004) (holding that the federal court is “[b]Jound by the state court’s
determination that the instruction at issue comported with state law”).

Moreover, &en if the jury instruction was erroneotighe Court is unable to say that the
state court’s applicationf the Strickland®? standard was unreasonal$ee Grant v. Locketf09
F.3d 224, 232 (3d Cir. 2013) (“When a federal habeas petition under § 2254 is based upon an
ineffective assistance of counsel claim, ‘[t}he pivotal ¢joass whether the state cowwt’
application of theéStricklandstandard was unreasonable,” which ‘is different from asking
whether defense counsel’s performance fell beédtmckland’'sstandard.” (quotinddarrington

v. Richter 562 U.S. 86, 88 (2011))). The Superior Court’s conclusion that trial counsel may have

3 In her dissenting opinion, Judge Olson concluded‘thedasonable reading of the

limiting instruction requires an acknowledgment thatitistruction was equivocalCharleston

94 A.3d at 1031 (Olson, J., concurring and dissenting). Accordingli/ttig]jury followed the

trial court’s instructio with respect to Clara Stanton’s testimony, it could have considered the
hearsay portion dfier testimony as proof of the truth of the madigserted since the trial cogrt’
instruction did not forelose this approach,” a result thatduld defeat the fundamental purpose
of the limiting instructiori. Id. at 1033.

% Strickland v. Washingto@66 U.S. 668 (1984). Undstrickland “[a] convicted
defendant’s claim that counsel’s assistance was so defective as to reggiisal of a conviction
... has two components. First, the defendant must show that ceypesérmance was
deficient.. . . Second, the defendant must show that the deficieliorpemce prejudiced the
defens€ Id. at 687. Here, the Superior Court applied the standard set forth in the Pennsylvania
case ofCommonwealth v. Pierc&27 A.2d 973, 975 (Pa. 1987), which is equivalent to the
StricklandstandardSee Boyd v. Waymafi79 F.3d 330, 334 n.2 (3d Cir. 20@90)he
Pennsylvania Supreme Court has made clear that the standard for ineffectiaa@ssist
counsel under Pennsylvania law is the samesStrickland’sstandad . . .so a Pennsylvania
court has adjudicated&tricklandclaim on the merits where it has applied the deatestandard

to that claint).
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madea calculated decision not to request a reviasttuction,in an attempt not to highlight the
testimony is not unreasonable.

Accordingly, the Court defers to the Superior Court’s decision that the instruasn w
not contrary to Pennsylvania law and, in any event, finds that the state courtst@mplof the
Stricklandstandard wasot unreasonablé® Charleston’s objection isierefore overruleh part.

il Objection Four, concerning counsel’s failure to object to the trial court’s

statementconcerning evidence that Charlestois “reputati on for telling
the truth is bad,” is overruled.

Charleston’s second ineffectiveness of counsel objection, and fourth objection overall,
concerns his trial counsel’s failure to object to the trialtt®statement that Charleston’s
“reputation for telling the truth is bad.” On this issubda@leston’s Stateant of Objections
simply repeats the arguments presented in his earlier Memorandum in SuppoRetditlua and
does not specify which aspects of the R&R’s analysis, if any, he objects to.

During the trial, the prosecution read a stipulation to the jury that Charlestomréad t
prior convictions—aamely that he had been found guilty of theft on September 1, 2004,
unauthorized use of an automobile on December 17, 2004 #meft on July 26, 2005 rial
N.T., Aug. 24, at 146. Then, in the closing instructions, the judge stated the following:

The defendant took the stand as a witness. In considering the defendant’s

testimony], yJou are to follow the general instructions | gave you for judging the

credibility of witnesses. You should not disbelieve the defendant’'s testimony
merely because he is the defendant.

There was evidencéending to prove that the defendant has prior criminal
convictions. And I'm speaking of the record introduced by the Commonwealth by
stipulation. The assistant district attorney introduced evidence tending to show
that the defendant’s reputation for telling the truth is bad.

This evidence is not edence of the defendant’s guiou must not infer gilt
from the evidence of prior convictions. This evidenagyrbe considered by you

3 TheCourt also agrees with the Magistrate Judgkstermination that even if Charleston’s

counsel had requested another instruction, Charleston cannot establish that thesreasabte
probability that there would have been a different result.
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for one purpose only, that is, to help you judge theibilégl and weight of the
testimony given ¥ the defendant as a witnesstis trial.

In considering the evidence of prior convictions, you may consider the types of
crimes committed, how long ago they were committed, and how it may affect the
likelihood that the defendahgs testified truthfully in this case.

Id. at 226-27 (emphasis added).

In his Petition, Charleston contends ttie trial judge conflatedrimen falsievidence
andcredibility evidenceandthatthere was, in fact, no evadce presented at trial tHas
“reputation for telling the truth is bdd-e claims thahis cownsel’s failure to object to the
judge’sinstructionon this point deprived him of the effective assistance of counsel.

Applying theStricklandstandard, the Magistrate Juddgtermined that counsel’s failure
to object was not objectively unreasoleain thecontext of the case. As the Magistrate Judge
points out, the trial court’s reference to Charleston’s reputation was “sdmetirbetween
sentences referring to Charlestopigor convictiors.” R&R at 42. Accordingly, [f]ather than
objecting and having the court focus its attention even further on Charleston’sgonctions,
perhaps even repeating that he had two theft convictions and one conviction for unaltissize
of a vehicle, counsel may have strategically chosen to remain silent on thelgsiéth
respect to the prejudice elementStfickland the Magistrate Judgsoncluded that “it is unlikely
that the jury was weNersed in Pennsylvania evidentiary law or that it appreciated the
distinction between Charleston’s prior convictions and a reputation for untruthfulness” and,
furthermore “the jury had other reasons to question Charleston’s credibility,” including the
crimen falsievidence and the discrepancietween his version of events and the physical
evidence set forth at tridd. Accordingly, the Magistrate Judge concluded that Charleston “has
failed to establish a reasonable probability that counsel’s failure to objdw judge’s use of

the term eputation during the charge affected the outcome of the tidal.”
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After de novo review of tis matter, the Court adopts the R&Risalysis of this issue and
the djection is overruled.

ii. Objection Five, concerning ounsel’s failure to request an involuntary
manslaughterinstruction, is overruled in part.

In his final objectionCharleston argudsat his trial counseklas ineffective when he
failed to requesa jury instruction foinvoluntary manslaughtéf. The Superior Court
determined that, like Charleston’s claim concerning Ms. Stanton’s testimonglainiswas
waived because Charleston failed to develop an argument for his claim unértetest.
Further, the court determined that Charleston’s claim would not merit reli@fi$®cnong
other things, involuntary manslaughter was rattissue in the trial.Charleston 94 A.3d at
1026. Moreover, the court’s “independent review of the pertinent authority confirthpedhere
is no arguable erit to [Charleston’s] claims” on this issud. at 1027. Accordingly, the
Superior Court concluded that “[t]rial counsel’s strategic decision not to purslhiedthpeting
theor[y] of . . . involuntary manslaughter with requested instructions had a reasonabléltasi
Finally, the Superior Court stated that it “discern[ed] no basis to find trial ebunetfective,
based on the information supplied by [Charleston], for pursuing his claim afefelise and

presenting the jury with a consistent theme and sgfyatéthe case.Id.

3 The trial jury instructed the jury on murder of the first degree, second dagrkthird

degree. He also instructed the jury on self-defense.

Under Pennsylvania law, the jury may convict a defendant of involuntary mahmsiaug
where the victim’s death was “a direct result of the doing of an unlawful aceckiess or
grossly negligent manner, or the doing of a lawful act in a reckless or gneggigent manner.”
18 Pa. Cons.t&t § 2504(a).

At the state level, Charleston contended that his counsel should have sought instructions
for both involuntary manslaughter and homicide by misadventure. Here, although @Gharlest
mentions the homicide by misadventure claim in his Petition, he has not discusskdnthis ¢
his briefing and has not objected to the Magistrate Jsidigéermination that this claimas
waived and lacks merit. Accordingly, the Court addresses only Charlestaniscolacerning
the involuntary manslaughter instruction.
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The Magistrate Judgegreed with the Superior Court that Charleston waived this claim
by failing to adequately brief,itoncluding that Charleston failed to provide any support in his
state court briefindor his contention that trial counsel “could have no reasonable asis”
failing to request this instruction. R&R at 37. Likewise, the Magistrate Jdekgemined that
Charleston’s assertion thidhe outcome of this trial may well have been different” had counsel
requested the instruction was insufficient to support an argument for prejudice unde
Strickland®?

Begiming with the waiver issyalthough it is true that Charleston’s PCRA briefing did
not include significant analysis for daaspect of this claim, this Court findstthe sufficiently
presented thelaim. As Judge Olson observed in her dissent:

[Charleston] allotted over 900 words, approximately four pages, to the portion of

his argument addressing counsel’s alleged dereliction in failing to seely a ju

instruction on involuntary manslaughter and/or homicide by misadventure. . . . He

cited to the notes of testimony six times. He cited approximately ten cases from

this Commonwealth addressing relevant legal issues. He discussed how these

cases were applicable to the case at bar and why he was entitled to relief.
Charleston 94 A.3d at 1035 (Olson, J., dissenting and concurring).

With respect to the meritd this claim the Superior Court’s majority opinion
determined—despite alissent from Judge Olson on this poirtkat aninvoluntary manslaughter
instructionwas not appropriat@ this casainder Pennsylvania law. As Respondents indicate,
this Court is‘[bJound by the state court’s determination” on this issue of stateSaesPriester
382 F.3d at 402. Accordingly, the Court must defer to the Superior Court’s ruling that @marlest

was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter conviction under Pennsylvania |tver Fine

Court finds that the Superior Court reasonably concluded that Charleston’s cowsset wa

» In the alternative, the R&Rgreed with the Superior Court’s determination that

Charleston would not be entitléal relief on this claim because the facts @& tiase did not
support an involuntary manslaughter instruction.
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ineffective when he presented “a consistent theme and strategy of the casetlefeseit,

rather than seek an involuntary manslaughter instruction. As the Superior Court observed, i
Charleston’s statement to Detective 3&tgn and in his testimony, Charleston maintained that
he acted in selflefense. As the Superior Court reasonably concluded, an involuntary
manslaughter charge might have obscured this consistent theme. Charlestontnabject
therefore overruled in part.

V. The Court will not issue acertificate of appealability .

When a district court issues a final order denying a 8§ 2254 petition, the court roust als
decide whether to issue a certificate of appealalf{it9A). See3d Cir. L.A.R. 22.2A
certificateof appealability is appropriate when a petitioner makes a “substantial shofitime
denial of a constitutional right.” 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(®Yhere a district court has rejected the
constitutional claims on the merits, the showing required to satB?p§(c) is straightforward:
The petitioner must demonstrate that reasonable jurists would find the distrits essessment
of the constitutnal claims debatable or wrongfack v. McDanigl529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000).
By contrast,

when the district aurt denies a habeas petition on procedural gmumthout

reaching the prisonexunderlying constitutional claing COA should issue when

the prisoner shows, at least, that jurists of reason would find it debatable whether

the petition states a validaiin of the denial of a constitutional right and that

jurists of reason would find it debatable whether the district court was carrect |

its procedural ruling.

Id. “A prisoner seeking a COA must prove ‘something more than the absence of frivothyg or
existence of mere ‘good faitlon his or her paft.Miller-El v. Cockrel] 537 U.S. 322, 338
(2003) (quotingBarefoot v. Estelle463 U.S. 880, 893 (1983)). But the Supreme Court does “not

require petitioner to prove, before the issuance of a COA, that some jurists wantlthgr

petition for habeas corptidd. “I ndeed, a claim can be debatable even though every jurist of
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reason might agree, after the COA has been granted and the case has retemesidatation,
that petitioner will not prevail.ld.

Here, the Courhasruled on the merits of Charleston’s first, third, fourth, and fifth
claims. The Court denied his second claim on procedural gréfifds.the reasons set forth
herein and in the R&R, Charleston has not made a stilastsimrowingof the denial of a
constitutional right, nor would jurists of reason find @aurt’'s assessment debatable or
wrong>’ The Courthereforefinds that a certificate of appealabilitymot warranted for
Charleston’s claims.

VI. Conclusion

After de novo review of the habeas corpus petition and supportefg,lihe state cot
records, the R&R, and Charleston’s objections to the R&R, and for the reasons setrémth he
the R&R is adopted in part. The Court adopts the Magistrate Judge’s recomomeswlili
respect to Charleston’s first, second, and fourth claims in their entirety. &phat to

Charleston’s third and fifth claims, the Court does not adopt the recommendation that thes

3 The Magistrate Judgéy contrast, recommendatsodenying Charleston’s third and

fifth claims—namely, those related to counsel’s failto@bject to the instruction regarding Ms.
Stanton’s testimony and counsel’s failure to request an involuntary manslaungtrtection—on
procedural groundd.his Court, however, reached the merits of those claims.

With respect to the first claim,ig debatable whether Justice Kenne®&sbert
concurrence is “clearly established Federal law” for purposes of habgas ceview, and is
debatable whether the omission of Migandawarnings in this case was deliberate, particularly
in view of the fact that the standards governing this analysis are unse&é&e@aperx27 F.3d
at 477 (observing that Justice Kennedy did not “explore how a court should determine when a
two-step interrogation strategy haden executed deliberately.Neverthelesst is not
debatable that the admission of Charleston’s statement did not have a “suletant@irious
effect or influence irdetermining the jury’s verdict” und@&recht See Rainey v. Superintendent
Coal Twp. SGINo. CV 16-3184, 2016 WL 941090&t*1 (3d Cir. Oct. 27, 2016) (denying
COA where petitioner’s “claims of trial court error are not debatable because het saswn
that the alleged errors hadsabstantial and injurious effect offlurence in determining the
jury’s verdict” underBrech). For this reason, a certificate will not issue for Charleston’s first
claim.
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claims be deemedaived; ratherthe Court finds that these claims do not merit relief.
Accordingly, the Court adopts the Magistrate Judge’s conclulsairCharleston is not entitled

to relief on any of his claims artle recommendation that his Petition be denied. The Court also
adopts the conclusiahat there has beem substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional
right requiring the issuance of a certificate of appealability.

For the above stated reasons, Charleston’s Petition is dérsegarate wler follows.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Joseph F. Leeson, Jr.
JOSEPH F. LEESON, JR.
United States District Judge
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